#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Virginia E. Burnett, by and through attorneys Janelle M. Carman and John C. Julian, respectfully requests that this Court grant this Petition for Review on the grounds identified below.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Burnett seeks review of Court of Appeals decision terminating review in this matter, found at ---P.3d. ---, 2015 WL 1809216 (published April 16, 2015).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Whether L&I's ability to "compromise" an assigned case pursuant to Chapter 51.24 RCW includes the right to a complete dismissal once the named party has relied upon the assignment to their detriment?

(2) Whether an employee involved in an assignment case pursuant to Chapter 51.24 RCW has standing to assert the Department's attorney's conflict of interest and to contest the State's failure to comply with constitutional and statutory requirements when the State takes action to force the substitute counsel solely for the purpose of dismissing an employee's appeal?

(3) Whether, upon assignment and election to pursue a third-party recovery action, L&I has a duty of good-faith to the injured worker?

(4) Whether a state employee should be barred from pursuing a tort claim against a state agency who was a third-party tortfeasor?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On March 9, 2009, Virginia Burnett, an employee of Walla Walla Community College, went to the Washington State Penitentiary in Walla Walla to teach a class. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 2, 36. While walking through a metal security door, a prison guard negligently closed the door on her, crushing her shoulders and upper torso and resulting in serious, long-term injury. CP at 3, 36.

At the time of her accident, Ms. Burnett had a Professional Personal Contract with Walla Walla Community College. CP at 54-55. That Contract said, in relevant part:

Employee agrees to perform the assigned professional services and to comply with all duties and responsibilities as enumerated in the Contract between the Board of Trustees of Community College District No. 20 and the Walla Walla Community College Association for Higher Education and the Interagency Agreement between the State of Washington Department of Corrections and State Board for Community and Technical Colleges as they now exist or hereafter amended and which by this reference are incorporated into this Contract as required by RCW 28B.50.855 as now existing or hereafter amended.

CP at 55.

The Interagency Agreement between the State of Washington Department of Corrections and the State Board for Community and Technical Colleges (hereafter "Agreement"), CP at 57-72, was executed in June 2008 between the Department of Corrections ("Department") and the State Board for Community and Technical Colleges ("Board"). The Agreement was "for the period of July 1, 2008, through June 30, 2009." CP at 57. Ms. Burnett's accident happened during the effective period of the Agreement. A copy of the entire Agreement was filed with the Superior Court as an exhibit to the *Declaration of Tom Scribner Regarding Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment*, CP at 57-72.

Of primary import to this case, the Agreement said, in relevant part:

5.5 INDEPENDENT CAPACITY: The employees or agents of each party who are engaged in the performance of this Agreement shall continue to be employees or agents of that party and <u>shall not be considered for any purpose to be employees or agents of the other party</u>.

5.6 AGENT OF THE OTHER PARTY: <u>Neither party</u> shall represent itself as an agent of the other party or hold itself out to be vested with any power or right to contractually bind or act on behalf of the other party.

Agreement, §§ 5.5 and 5.6, CP at 68 (emphasis supplied).

Following the March 9, 2009, incident, Ms. Burnett filed for benefits and received compensation from the Department of Labor and Industries (L&I) under the payment schedule established for injured workers. *See Declaration of Debra Hatzialexiou* at Exhibit 1, Appendix N. As is most pertinent for the case at hand, Ms. Burnett received a letter from L&I informing her of her right to pursue an additional action against the third-party tortfeasor, the Department of Corrections (DOC), as its employee had caused the incident. *Id.* The letter further stated that if she did not elect to do so, the matter would be assigned to L&I. *Id.* In the event of such an assignment, if L&I obtained an award that exceeded its interest in being reimbursed for its payment to Ms. Burnett, Ms. Burnett would receive any surplus. RCW 51.24.060.

Ms. Burnett accepted that course of action. Accordingly, she did not respond to the letter, nor retain counsel. *See Declaration of Debra Hatzialexiou* at Exhibit 1, Appendix N. L&I, upon assignment, chose to pursue the cause of action against the Department of Corrections, not in its own name, but in the name of Ms. Burnett. L&I contracted with Walla Walla attorney Scott Wolfram to serve as a Special AAG to represent L&I in Ms. Burnett's name, and subsequently, attorney Tom Scribner once attorney Wolfram was elected as a superior court judge. *Id.* at Exhibit 3.

On March 1, 2012, in cooperation with Mr. Scribner's efforts, Mr. Scribner assisted Ms. Burnett in filing her *Complaint for Damages*, alleging among other things that the DOC employee was negligent in his actions, and that she suffered emotional distress and subsequent physical limitations. CP at 1. The complaint is written on letterhead from the law office of Scott Wolfram. *Id.* However, when Attorney Scribner substituted for Attorney Wolfram, he also signed a special agreement, wherein he became a Special Assistant Attorney General for purposes of pursuing the underlying litigation. *See Declaration of Debra Hatzialexiou* at Exhibit 1, Appendix N.

On March 11, 2013, the Department filed its *Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Plaintiff's Complaint*. CP 5-9. On November 1, 2013, the Department filed its *Motion for Summary Judgment*. CP at 11-12. The motion alleged that as a result of this state employee's employment, she was barred in suing a separate state agency (despite third party tortfeasor status) under the worker's compensation regulations. CP at 14-27.

On December 23, 2013, the Walla Walla County Superior Court heard argument on the Department's *Motion for Summary Judgment* and entered an *Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment*. CP at 86-87. The Office of the Attorney General represented the Department of Corrections in the superior court action.

Upon Ms. Burnett's timely appeal, Division III of the Court of Appeals undertook the matter without oral argument. However, prior to issuing its opinion, the Court requested that the parties answer five questions.<sup>1</sup> Appendix P.

Shortly after the questions issued, Mr. Scribner received a directive from L&I that, rather than filing a response to the court's inquiry, he should dismiss the case *with prejudice*. *See Declaration of Debra Hatzialexiou* at Exhibit 1, Appendix N. The result would have been to deprive Ms. Burnett of any hearing on the merits and to cut off her access to any overage in damages collected by the tort action.

In response to L&I's directive, Mr. Scribner declined, citing a conflict of interest between L&I and Ms. Burnett's interests, which arose

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals directed counsel to answer the following: (1) Should this court give consideration to the fact that the Department of Labor & Industries, the state branch that administers workers' compensation law, is the party bringing this lawsuit? Stated differently, should this court give any deference to the Department of Labor & Industries' apparent position that Walla Walla Community College and the Department of Corrections are distinct employers for purposes of RCW 51.24.030?

<sup>(2)</sup> Does each branch of state government separately pay premiums into a Department of Labor and Industries' fund in order for its employees to be covered for work injuries?

<sup>(3)</sup> Did Walla Walla Community College pay premiums to the Department of Labor & Industries to cover Virginia Burnett for work injuries?

<sup>(4)</sup> Did the Department of Corrections pay premiums to the Department of Labor & Industries to cover Virginia Burnett for work injuries?

<sup>(5)</sup>If neither Walla Walla Community College or the Department of Corrections paid premiums to the Department of Labor & Industries to cover Virginia Burnett for work injuries, what, if any entity, did?

as a result of the assurance that this injured worker would receive any award in excess of the Department's reimbursement. RCW 51.24.060.

L&I ignored Mr. Scribner's concerns, and instead, Anastasia Sandstrom of the Attorney General's Office entered her notice of appearance in the matter on behalf of L&I itself, although it was not a named party. Appendix Q. At that point in time, Mr. Scribner remained attorney of record for Ms. Burnett.

L&I subsequently moved to compel Mr. Scribner to withdraw from the case, and also sought to dismiss the case on behalf of Ms. Burnett. Appendix M, P. DOC, also represented by the Attorney General's Office albeit via a different Assistant Attorney General, joined in this motion. Appendix H. Notably, in its pleadings, L&I expressly stated that it would *not* permit Ms. Burnett to re-elect to pursue the appeal on her own.<sup>2</sup> Of course, by then the statute of limitations would have prevented Ms. Burnett from filing her own separate action subsequent to a dismissal. Chapter 4.16 RCW.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As argued before the Court of Appeals, it is manifest that either the Attorney General's Office or another state actor did not want the court to issue its opinion once it believed it understood the direction the court was leaning given its question. That this is so is illustrated by the fact that there is virtually no other reason to have withdrawn the appeal once the briefing was completed. As discussed below, such a self-interested viewpoint cannot be taken as fairly representing the interest of a named, injured party, and therefore, must constitute a conflict of interest.

Neither DOC nor L&I filed any certificate pursuant to RPC 1.10 regarding a firm's dual representation.

On 1/26/15, Janelle M. Carman and John C. Julian substituted for Tom Scribner as counsel on behalf of Ms. Burnett. Appendix J.

Ms. Burnett responded to L&I's motions, and also moved to disqualify the Attorney General's Office from its representation of L&I contrary to her interests, given the apparent conflict of interest resulting from abrupt and detrimental change of direction from the Attorney General's Office and the absence of compliance with RPC 1.10. Appendix I.

On April 16, 2015, in a split decision, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion on the motions. In its opinion, the Court held that, despite being a party in interest, Ms. Burnett lacked standing to challenge the conflict of interest brought about by the Attorney General's dramatic and detrimental about-face, and that she also lacked standing to challenge whether the State had properly satisfied RCW 2.44.040 in its actions. Slip Op. at 7-12. The Court also declined to rule on the merits of the appeal, which itself were a matter of first impression. Slip Op. at 19-20.

In yet another issue of first impression, the Court of Appeals also ruled that, pursuant to RCW 51.24.050(1), the word "compromise," includes the right to dismiss a lawsuit to the detriment of the named

injured worker, despite the lack of any other recourse, and in contradiction to stated public policy under RCW 51.04.062. The Court also held that, once L&I elected to undertake representation in an injured worker's name, no duty of good faith existed in pursuing that claim. Slip Op. at 16.

Having decided the motions, the Court of Appeals granted L&I's motion to dismiss the case without reaching the merits of the novel question raised by the appeal. Slip Op. at 19-20. Ms. Burnett was subsequently left without recourse.

In his dissent, Judge Brown aptly noted that the majority's decision "unnecessarily and unfairly harms [Ms. Burnett] and all workers similarly situated who seek a recovery in excess of [L&I]'s subrogation interest, and that "the State is now the wolf guarding the henhouse because it too has an interest in the outcome." Dissent at 1, 2.

Ms. Burnett now seeks review by this Court.

#### V. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

(1) This Court should accept review because, as a matter of first impression, the Court of Appeals improperly construed the statutory language of Chapter 51.24 RCW in contravention to due process and stated public policy considerations.

In dismissing Ms. Burnett's appeal, the Court of Appeals relied primarily upon its conclusion that, pursuant to the language in Chapter 51.24 RCW, L&I's ability to "compromise" a lawsuit assigned to it also includes the authority to completely dismiss a lawsuit regardless of its impact upon the named, injured worker. Slip Op at 15-19. That statute reads, in relevant part:

An election not to proceed against the third person operates as an assignment of the cause of action to the department or self-insurer, which may prosecute or *compromise* the action in its discretion in the name of the injured worker, beneficiary or legal representative.

RCW 51.24.050 (1) (emphasis supplied).

The term "compromise" had not previously been construed in this context by any Washington court. Stated simply, the lower court ruled that, as a matter of law, RCW 51.24.050(1) grants L&I the ability to "compromise" a lawsuit, and that the term is inclusive of the right to dismiss a suit to the detriment of the named party in interest, despite the fact that the named party may have no other recourse by which to recover, be it by virtue of an expired statute of limitations, or simple inability to afford counsel.<sup>3</sup>

In support of its conclusion, the lower court cited to the statutory language in RCW 51.24.050(1) stating that an injured worker may elect to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This of course, becomes particularly problematic in the industrial insurance context, given that the party seeking recovery is a worker who, by definition, has been injured, and may be unable to generate sufficient income to afford an attorney, even if he or she could otherwise do so if healthy.

pursue litigation against a third-party tortfeasor, and that failure to do so assigns the matter to L&I for purposes of pursuing a third-party claim. Slip Op. at 16. The court also pointed out the statutory language under RCW 51.24.050(1) that permits L&I to "prosecute or compromise the action in its discretion in the name of the injured worker." *Id.* The court went on to note that in this instance Ms. Burnett did not elect to pursue the matter, thereby assigning the case to L&I, and that the ability to control the litigation must logically consume the ability to dismiss. *Id. at* 18-19.

However, the court ended its substantive analysis at this point, and in so doing, failed to consider whether its broad construction of the term "compromise" has either due process or public policy implications. Further, the court's construction presumes that an injured worker has the initial ability to prosecute an action against a third-party tortfeasor, when in fact, assignment may occur for a variety of reasons, including the inability to afford counsel – a plain access to justice issue that can result in the deprivation of important due process rights if the court's construction of the term "compromise" is upheld. Additionally it is manifest that such a construction proposed by the court below also permits L&I to act in contravention to explicit state policy regarding injured workers, which is to maximize outcomes for injured workers, unless a duty of good faith is implied by this Court. RCW 51.04.062

Unfortunately, in reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals expressly stated that to imply a duty of good faith to an assignment cause of action would be reading language into the statute that does not exist. Slip Op. at 16. Such an interpretation conflicts with well-established principles requiring good faith when representing a party's interest. *E.g.*, Civil Rule (CR) 11. Ultimately, the lower court erred by construing the duty of good faith *out* of this statute, to the detriment of all similarly situated injured workers in contradiction to the purpose of the Legislature.

Ms. Burnett contends, as she did below, that Chapter 51.04 RCW requires the Department to engage in good faith when in fact it opts to take on an assignment case. Such a construction is necessary in order to effectuate the intent of the legislature with regard to L&I claims. Indeed, our legislature has expressly stated that the intent of the L&I statues is to "focus on achieving the best outcomes for injured workers." RCW 51.04.062. The ruling by the court below directly conflicts with this stated purpose and instead erroneously removes the good faith requirement out of the statute.

By construing the term "compromise" in such a broad fashion without inferring a duty of good faith, the Court of Appeals created a policy that permits the State to undertake the prosecution of a third-party action in the name of the injured worker, and subsequently undermine that

injured worker's case by dismissing the action in such a manner where, as here, the injured worker has no further recourse after having relied upon the State's pursuit of his or her claim.<sup>4</sup> This cannot be consistent with stated public policy of "best outcomes for injured workers." Therefore, this Court should grant review.

(2) This Court should also accept review because the Court of Appeals denied Ms. Burnett procedural and substantive due process by improperly concluding that, despite being a named party, she did not have standing to assert a conflict of interest and seek the disqualification of the Attorney General's Office, or assert that the State failed to satisfy RCW 2.44.040 once it became apparent that her interests were no longer represented by L&I.

The essential elements of procedural due process include the right to notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard. *Matthews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 348, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976). Moreover, "[w]hen the State seeks to deprive a person of a protected interest, procedural due process requires that an individual receive notice of the deprivation and an opportunity to be heard to guard against erroneous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Once again, it is noteworthy that in this case the State made plain in its pleadings that it would <u>not</u> grant re-election of Ms. Burnett's case to her. As was pleaded below, it is reasonable to conclude this tactical decision was made because the State (inclusive of the Office of the Attorney General, L&I, and DOC) did not want to have an appellate opinion on the court's questions – clearly acting in its own self-interest, rather than pursuing Ms. Burnett's claim diligently, competently, and in good faith – an obligation all attorneys share, regardless of public or private in nature.

deprivation." *Id.* The process provided to Ms. Burnett failed to meet basic constitutional requirements. As such, review is appropriate.

To determine the level of due process to provide, a court must consider three factors: (1) The private interest affected; (2) the risk that the relevant procedures will erroneously deprive a party of those interests; and (3) any government interest involved. *City of Bremerton v. Hawkins*, 155 Wn.2d 107, 110, 117 P.3d 1132 (2005). Here, by denying Ms. Burnett standing to challenge L&I's motion to dismiss the appeal filed in her name, the Court of Appeals denied Ms. Burnett any meaningful opportunity to have her objections or appeal heard on their merits. The Court's error is compounded by virtue of the reality that it improperly engaged in fact-finding, and relied upon incorrect facts in making its erroneous determinations.

In its opinion, the lower court states that "Virginia Burnett lacks standing to assert the disqualification of the Attorney General's Office since any conflict of interest is between other parties." Slip Op. at 10. The court went on to note that this decision was based upon its belief that"[s]ince the Attorney General's Office has not represented Virginia Burnett, she lacks standing to forward her motion of disqualification." *Id.* This factual determination was in error. Even a brief review of the record demonstrates the state first contracted with attorney M. Scott Wolfram, then attorney Tom Scribner to serve as a "Special Assistant Attorney General" in this matter.<sup>5</sup> *See Declaration of Debra Hatzialexiou* at Exhibit 1, Appendix N. This information is further alluded to in the pleadings filed on behalf of L&I in support of its motions. Importantly, this fact was not found by the Superior Court, but rather, appears to have been determined by the Court of Appeals on review of the motions before it. *See Generally*, Slip Op.

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