RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 08, 2015, 9:45 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 91737-0

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VIRGINIA A. BURNETT,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES ANSWER

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA NO. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 464-7740

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

L&I did not represent Burnett. As the assigned party, L&I had discretion in how it would prosecute or compromise the claim. RCW 51.24.050. Burnett could have elected to proceed with the lawsuit on her own. But when she chose to assign the case to L&I, she forfeited the right to exercise any control over the case. The law provides that L&I may "in its discretion" prosecute or compromise the case. RCW 51.24.050. The statute does not support Burnett's request to make L&I's decisions contingent on her wishes.

Since RCW 51.24.050 fully supports L&I's position, Burnett contends that the Industrial Insurance Act requires a duty of good faith under RCW 51.04.062. This statute applies in a different context:

structured settlements. A structured settlement is a method where an industrial insurance claim is resolved by a monetary payout to the worker either by L&I or a self-insured employer. RCW 51.04.063. RCW 51.04.062 provides that there should be a structured settlement process and that legislation states: "The legislature finds that Washington state's workers' compensation system should be designed to focus on achieving the best outcomes for injured workers." RCW 51.04.062. It follows by saying that "To these ends," the Legislature recognizes the need for a structured settlement process. See RCW 51.04.062. The legislative finding was done in support of structured settlement legislation, where the Legislature seeks to optimize outcomes in resolving workers' compensation claims. RCW 51.04.062, .063. However, this is not a general statement of enforceable duties that arise under the Industrial Insurance Act, including any duties owed by the Department in prosecuting an assigned third party action.

Significantly, the policies underlying the structured settlement and third party processes are different. In structured settlement cases, the

⁴ RCW 51.04.062 provides "The legislature finds that Washington state's workers' compensation system should be designed to focus on achieving the best outcomes for injured workers. Further, the legislature recognizes that controlling pension costs is key to a financially sound workers' compensation system for employers and workers. To these ends, the legislature recognizes that certain workers would benefit from an option that allows them to initiate claim resolution structured settlements in order to pursue work or retirement goals independent of the system, provided that sufficient protections for injured workers are included."

Department is adjudicating individual workers' compensation claims for the best result. In third party actions, L&I acts to replenish the state funds. RCW 51.24.050. RCW 51.24.050 does not require L&I to look for the best outcome for the worker. Indeed, because L&I may compromise a claim in order to satisfy its statutory lien, the worker may not have as good of an outcome as the worker would have had if he or she had chosen to proceed independently.

Additionally, RCW 51.04.062 is a legislative finding that starts with the language "The legislature finds." As such it does not give rise to any enforceable right. When the Legislature employs the words "the legislature finds," "it sets forth policy statements that do not give rise to enforceable rights and duties." *Judd v. Amer. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 152 Wn.2d 195, 203, 95 P.3d 337 (2004). The Legislature was making a general—and unenforceable—policy statement applicable to structured settlements, which has a different underlying policy than the third party statute. The general statement in RCW 51.04.062 does not override the specific direction in RCW 51.24.050 that L&I "may prosecute or compromise the action in its discretion."

2. Interpreting RCW 51.24.050 To Allow for the Department's Discretion in Assignment Presents No Due Process Issue

The Court of Appeals' decision presents no due process issue regarding its interpretation of "compromise," contrary to Burnett's claims. See Pet. at 11; see also Pet at 9. Her reasoning is that "the court's construction presumes that an injured worker has the initial ability to prosecute an action against a third-party tortfeasor, when in fact, an assignment may occur for a variety of reasons, including the inability to afford counsel—a plain access to justice issue that can result in the deprivation of important due process rights if the court's construction of the term 'compromise' is upheld." Pet. at 11. There is no constitutional right to cost-free civil litigation. See In re Grove, 127 Wn.2d 221, 240, 897 P.3d 1252 (1995). So, assigning a case to L&I, which necessarily means that L&I will act "in its discretion" does not require a worker to give up any due process rights.

The application of the assignment statute presents no due process violation. As Burnett acknowledges, due process includes the right to notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 348, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976). As required by RCW 51.24.070, L&I sent a letter to Burnett informing her of the potential third party claim. Consistent with that statute, the letter demanded that

Burnett respond to L&I with her election within 60 days or the case would be assigned to L&I. Ex 1. Burnett did not respond to the letter. Hatzialexiou Decl. at 2; Ex 2. L&I sent another letter to Burnett that informed her that since she did not respond to the demand for election, her potential "third party action is now deemed assigned to the department to prosecute or compromise in its discretion." Ex. 2. Burnett again did not respond. Hatzialexiou Decl. at 2.

Burnett suggests that she had no option other than to execute the assignment. Pet. at 11.⁵ But a worker does not need to assign a claim to receive workers' compensation benefits.⁶ RCW 51.24.040. The worker may choose to proceed on his or her own. RCW 51.24.070.

Here, notice was provided to Burnett that L&I could prosecute or compromise the claim in its discretion. She had the opportunity to be heard as to whether she agreed to this and she did not contest the

⁵ She argues that there may be an inability to afford counsel that motivates a worker to assign the claim to L&I. Pet. at 11. Given that most personal injury cases are pursued on a contingency basis, this is likely to occur only in a small percentage of cases. Regardless of the assigning party's motivation to assign the case, the Legislature has given L&I broad discretion in whether and how to pursue an assigned case. Moreover, there is no constitutional right to cost-free civil litigation. See Grove, 127 Wn.2d at 240.

⁶ It should be noted that the dissent incorrectly states that Burnett "had little or no choice in assigning her claim against DOC to the Department of Labor and Industries (DLI) in exchange for workers compensation benefits." Dissent at 1. A worker is not required to assign a claim to L&I to receive workers' compensation benefits. It is his or her choice as to whether to assign the claim under RCW 51.24.050 and .070, but in any event, the worker receives benefits regardless of what the status is of any third party claim. RCW 51.24.040 (worker "shall be entitled to the full compensation and benefits provided by this title regardless of any election or recovery made under this chapter.").

assignment. She cannot now claim that she did not have notice and opportunity to be heard on this matter. L&I satisfied its due process responsibilities when it sent notice about the assignment to Burnett. *See Duskin v. Carlson*, 136 Wn.2d 550, 558, 965 P.2d 611 (1998) (service by certified mail of demand regarding election satisfied due process).

B. The Decision Below Created No Due Process Issue or Error Regarding Standing

1. Determining That Burnett Cannot Challenge the Decision To Dismiss the Appeal Fully Comports With Due Process

The Court of Appeals decision on standing does not implicate due process. Asserting that the Court of Appeals decided she lacked standing to challenge the motion to dismiss, Burnett argues that this deprived her of due process. Pet. at 14. But the Court of Appeals did not decide the issue of whether she could have the appeal heard on the merits on standing principles (it was only her motion to disqualify counsel that rested on this). In deciding whether she could block the motion to dismiss, the Court of Appeals relied on the discretion afforded to L&I in RCW 51.24.050 and on basic principles of assignment law. Slip op. at 12-17.

⁷ She also has never asked L&I if she could re-elect to take the case back under RCW 51.24.070. L&I indicated in its briefing below that if her request to continue the litigation was a request for reelection, L&I would have granted it, but she never actually made a request for reelection. Hatzialexiou Decl. at 5. As her relief, she appears to believe the Court could order L&I to accept a reelection, ignoring that such reelection is done in L&I's discretion. RCW 51.24.070; Pet. at 18.

The case law is well-settled that an assignment necessarily means a loss of control over the litigation. An assignee "steps into the shoes" of the assignor and has all the rights of the assignor. *Puget Sound Nat'l Bank v. Dep't of Rev.*, 123 Wn.2d 284, 292, 868 P.2d 127 (1994); *Estate of Jordan v. Hartford Accident & Indem. Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 490, 495, 844 P.2d 403 (1993). "[T]he assignee acquires whatever rights the assignor possessed prior to the assignment." *Puget Sound Nat'l Bank*, 123 Wn.2d at 292-93; *see Steinmetz v. Hall-Conway-Jackson, Inc.*, 49 Wn. App. 223, 227, 741 P.2d 1054 (1987).

Here, Burnett had the right to sue under RCW 51.24.030, setting aside the question of whether Title 51 immunity applied. One of the rights in a lawsuit and in an appeal from a trial court decision is the right to decide when to no longer pursue the cause of action. Under RAP 18.2, an appellant may move to dismiss an appeal. This is a right under the appeal, which L&I acquired as the assignee. Note that L&I is the real party in interest in an assigned case, even though the case is in the name of the worker. See RCW 51.24.050, .070; Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Wendt, 47 Wn. App. 427, 431, 735 P.2d 1334 (1987) ("As assignee of the claim, the Department was the real party in interest"), overruled on different grounds State v. WWJ Corp., 138 Wn.2d 595, 602, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999).

Since the case was assigned to L&I, Burnett can no longer change the course of the case. After a case is assigned, the assignor may no longer make binding decisions in the case. Steinmetz, 49 Wn. App. at 227; see also RCW 51.24.050 (the Department may prosecute or compromise the case in its discretion). The Steinmetz Court held that the assignee of an insured's malpractice claim against an insurance broker was entitled to sue for negligence in spite of the fact that the assignor later entered into a covenant with the insurer not to sue the insurer. Id. at 228. The court emphasized that the assignee receives all of the assignor's rights as of the time of assignment—subsequent actions by the assignor do not affect those rights. Id. at 227-28.

Burnett's subsequent action in trying to maintain this appeal do not affect the rights given to L&I at the time of assignment, namely to make decisions in its discretion about the appeal. RCW 51.24.050. It is correct that she may not challenge dismissal because all decisions on courses of action in the case were assigned to L&I.

As noted, the Court of Appeals decision about whether she could challenge the assignment did not rest on standing. Slip op. at 12-17. But even if Burnett were correct that the Court of Appeals decided the case on standing principles, there is no due process issue. She received notice that the case would be assigned and opportunity to contest that. This is all that

due process requires. *See Mathews*, 424 U.S. at 348-49. She provides no authority for the proposition that a decision based on the premise that an assignor cannot veto litigation decisions—be it a decision on standing grounds, or not—presents a due process issue. The Court should reject her unsupported arguments.

2. Because the Attorney General's Office Did Not Represent Burnett, She Lacks Standing To Claim Disqualification

The Court of Appeals also correctly decided that the Attorney General's Office never represented Burnett and accordingly Burnett had no standing to claim a conflict regarding the Attorney General's Office's representation in this matter. Burnett claims it was a factual error to say that the Attorney General's Office has not represented Burnett. Pet. at 14. To that extent, she believes the appellate court engaged in improper fact-finding and that she was denied due process because of the resulting ruling. Pet at 14-15. First, regarding her fact-finding argument, the Court of Appeals may determine a fact if necessary to decide a procedural motion brought before it. RAP 17.4(f). Second, the Attorney General's Office has never represented Burnett. RCW 43.10.030 and .040 authorize the Attorney General's Office to represent state officials and employees acting in their official capacity, not individuals regarding a private tort action.

To the extent Burnett claims that the special assistant attorneys general represented her and so therefore the Attorney General's Office represented her, the record reveals that L&I contracted with the special assistant attorneys general and L&I was the client, not Burnett. Ex 3 at 3.

The complaint states that the matter was assigned to L&I, thus showing that it was not Burnett that appeared in this matter or was represented by the special assistant attorney general. CP 2. Because she was not represented by the Attorney General's Office, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that she did not have standing to object to the Attorney General's Office representing both Department of Corrections and L&I. Burnett does not dispute the Court of Appeals' holding that only a party who has been represented by the conflicted attorney has standing to seek disqualification. *See Info. Sys. Assocs., Inc. v. Phuture World, Inc.*, 106 So.3d 982, 984-85 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2013); 7 Am.Jur.2d *Attorneys at* Law § 188 (2007); Slip op. at 10.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that it would find any conflict permissible under Washington state law. Slip op. at 10. This is because there is no conflict presented by the Attorney General's Office representing both L&I and Department of Corrections. The Attorney General's Office may represent multiple state agencies with conflicting interests. *Reiter v. Wallgren*, 28 Wn.2d 872, 879-80, 184 P.2d 571 (1947);

Wash. Med. Disciplinary Bd. v. Johnson, 99 Wn.2d 466, 480, 663 P.3d 457 (1983). The Court of Appeals did not err in rejecting Burnett's conflict argument, and no basis exists to grant review regarding it.

3. Burnett Lacked Standing To Contest Whether Costs Should Have Been Paid To Another Person

Finally, Burnett is wrong in claiming that she was denied due process because the Court of Appeals held she lacked standing to raise the costs issue in RCW 2.44.040. Pet. at 16. This concerns whether L&I had to pay Scribner potential costs before the Attorney General's Office substituted AAG Sandstrom as counsel. She does not explain why a holding that only the affected attorney may seek costs under RCW 2.44.040 as the only party with an interest in the funds violates due process. It is well-established that only a party with an interest has standing to challenge an action. *Aguirre v. AT&T Wireless Servs.*, 109 Wn. App. 80, 85, 33 P.3d 1110 (2001).

C. No Reason Exists To Examine the Underlying Issue

Burnett asks the Court to review the underlying issue as to whether one state employee from one state agency can sue another state agency. She argues that the issue is not moot because it could affect other state employees. Pet. at 17. She provides no authority for the proposition that

the Court should consider a matter where the appealing party has dismissed the action. The question is moot because of the dismissal.⁸

V. CONCLUSION

Burnett does not deny that the cause of action is assigned to L&I under RCW 51.24.050. Under this statute, L&I has wide discretion in how it proceeds in the case and part of that discretion is the authority to decide when to not pursue a case. Applying this statute to allow L&I to dismiss its appeal does not present an issue for review as it follows the plain language of the statute and assignment principles. No due process issue is raised when Burnett received notice about the assignment and declined to participate further. The Legislature gave wide discretion to L&I under the assignment statute and this public policy decision should not be second guessed. This Court should deny review.